
1. One Community - Two Histories
The historic marker adjacent to the boat ramp 
introduces you to the theme of this Historic 
Hikoi. Maketu is one community with two 
histories. Maketu's Maori history begins with 
the arrival of first human inhabitants of Aotearoa 
(New Zealand) approximately eight centuries 
ago, and the arrival of the Arawa waka (canoe) 
under the command ofTametekapua. 

Maketu's shared Maori-Pakeha history began 
almost 250 years ago when the English explorer, 
Captain James Cook sighted 
Maketu and noted it in his 

journal. However it wasn't until the mid 
1800s, that Maketu had an established 
European population and became an 
important trading hub in the Bay of Plenty. 
The most significant of Maketu's early 
settlers was the Danish merchant, Hans 
Felk (also known as Philip Tapsell) 
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2. Commercial District

The present commercial district in Maketu village has been 
the centre of the community since the earliest days of 
Pakeha settlement. A general store has been located con-
tinuously on the site currently occupied by Maketu Landing 
and Maketu Pies. 

Maketu's fish and chips 
shop has hardly 
changed since it was 
immortalised in a 1975 
painting by the artist 
Dame Robin White, 
regarded as one of New 
Zealand's most recog-
nised paintings. 

The Maketu Health and Social Services building is on the site 
of the old "Olympia Theatre", screening movies until the 
early 1960s when it fell victim to the arrival of TV and the 
bright lights of Te Puke. 
At the waterfront you would have found a wharf that where 
sailing ships docked to brings goods to provision the growing 
provinces in the Bay of Plenty 

St Peter Catholic Church, 
built in 1886, sits promi-
nently in the center of the 
village and is only slightly 
younger, by 20 years, than 
St Thomas Anglican church. 

3. Spencer Avenue
Spencer Avenue was the centre of the early European 
settlement of Maketu. In the mid 1880s you would find the 
Wharekahu Mission Station here. Among other things, a 

,n;::es.. school for Maori girls 
- was started here by Mrs 

Ann Chapman, wife of 
Thomas Chapman, a 
CMS missionary who was 
responsible for establishing 
several churches in New 
Zealand. There was also 

a police station, courthouse, and harbourmaster's residence. 

At the top of Spencer Av is the Wharekahu Urupa which is 
the most recent of many burial grounds on the Maketu 
peninsula. This cemetery has been used for burials since 
the 1840s. It is the final resting place of many of Maketu's 
prominent Maori and Pakeha residents. 

Beyond the Wharekahu Cemetery is a ragged, but stately, 
Norfolk Pine tree which was reportedly 
planted by Prince Albert, Duke of Edin-
burgh, in 1870 to mark the Jubilee of 
Queen Victoria. Rev. Seymour Mills 
Spencer later built a house near the 
tree, where he lived with his daughter 
Charlotte (Lettie) who conducted a 
private school in the attic. This proper-
ty was known as "Ivy Isles" and was the 
most elegant home on the street, sur-
rounded by many trees and beautiful 
gardens. Sadly it burned to the ground 
in 1905. 

4. Pukemaire Pa / Maketu School
A school was opened on this 
site on 2 June 1927. Previously, 
a school was part of the 
Wharekahu Mission Station on 
Spencer Av. The gate posts, 
carved in Rotorua, were added 
in 1937 to commemorate the 
651h anniversary of a school in 
Maketu. 

At the end of the road, just past the school, you will see a 
path to the Pukemaire pa. It is a short walk along this path 
to the top of the hill which is the site of Pukemaire pa. This 
site offers a beautiful view along the coast which made it an 
excellent defensive position. 
Several different tribes used 
this location over the centu-
ries, and many battles have 
been fought here. In 1864, 
Arawa tribes and the British 
Army shared the site, which 
was renamed Fort Colville. 
From this marker, travel 
along Church Rd to the end of the street where you will see 
a short walkway to St Thomas Church. 
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St Thomas Anglican Church 
is the second oldest church 
in the Bay of Plenty. 
Construction began in 1859 
but was delayed for ten 
years. After several years 
of argument between two 
local chiefs over the owner-
ship of the foundation 
stones construction resumed 
in 1868. During those years, 

the boards were laid out waiting for building to begin. 
Children played on them and the marks of their hands and 
feet can still be seen on some of the beams inside the sanctuary. 
Continue down the hill to the intersection of Little Waihi Rd 
and turn right a short distance to Kotukutuku Gully 

5. Kotukutuku Gully
For centuries this 
gully has been the 
scene of continuous 
activity by Te Arawa 
people. Remnants 
of hangi stones 
(earth ovens), mid-
dens (shell waste), 
and cultivation of 
crops can be found 
here . 
The gully was also 
the direct route to Little Wai hi estuary where warriors 
could slip behind their enemies planning to attack the pa 
on Okurie. In recent decades, the gully had become a 
dumping ground, filled with old cars and overgrown bush. 
Over the last several years, members of the local community 
have worked tirelessly to clear the gully and replant it with 
native plants. 




